
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 12, 2017 

 

Kimberly Young Wilkins, Ed.D 

Superintendent  

Albany City School District 

1 Academy Park 

Albany, New York 12207 

 

Re: Case No. 02-17-1048 

 City School District of Albany 

 

Dear Dr. Young Wilkins: 

 

This letter is to notify you of the determination made by the U.S. Department of Education, 

Office for Civil Rights (OCR), regarding the above-referenced complaint filed against the City 

School District of Albany (the District).  The complainant alleged that the District discriminated 

against her daughters (Students 1 and 2), on the basis of their sex, by failing to respond 

appropriately to complaints the complainant made to District staff in XXXXXXX and 

XXXXXXXX XXXX, alleging that students at the District’s XXXXXXX XXX XXXXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXXX School (the school) subjected Students 1 and 2 to sexual harassment.     

 

OCR is responsible for enforcing Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), as 

amended 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 106, which 

prohibit discrimination on the basis of sex in programs and activities receiving financial 

assistance from the U.S. Department of Education (the Department).  The District is a recipient 

of financial assistance from the Department.  Therefore, OCR has jurisdictional authority to 

investigate this complaint under Title IX. 

 

Sexual harassment that creates a hostile environment is a form of sex discrimination prohibited 

by Title IX.  Sexual harassment is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature and can include sexual 

advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, nonverbal, or physical conduct.  Hostile 

environment sexual harassment is sexually harassing conduct that is sufficiently serious to limit 

an individual’s ability to participate in or receive benefits, services or opportunities in the 

recipient’s program.  If OCR establishes that conduct of a sexual nature occurred, OCR will 

examine additional factors to determine whether a sexually hostile environment exists.  If OCR 

determines that a sexually hostile environment exists, OCR will then determine whether the 

recipient took immediate and effective corrective action reasonably calculated to stop the 

harassment, prevent its recurrence, and as appropriate, remedy its effects.   
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The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(b), requires that a recipient adopt and 

publish grievance procedures providing for the prompt and equitable resolution of student and 

employee complaints alleging any action prohibited by the regulation implementing Title IX.  

OCR has identified a number of elements necessary in evaluating if grievance procedures are 

prompt and equitable, including whether the procedures provide for: (a) notice to students and 

employees of the procedures, including where complaints may be filed, that is easily understood, 

easily located, and widely distributed; (b) application of the procedures to complaints alleging 

discrimination or harassment carried out by employees, students, and third parties; (c) adequate, 

reliable, and impartial investigation, including an equal opportunity to present witnesses and 

evidence; (d) designated and reasonably prompt timeframes for major stages of the grievance 

process; (e) notice to parties of the outcome and any appeal; and, (f) an assurance that the 

recipient will take steps to prevent further harassment and to correct its discriminatory effects on 

the complainant and others, if appropriate.    

 

The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a), requires each recipient to 

designate at least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its 

responsibilities under the regulation implementing Title IX, including investigation of any 

complaint communicated to the recipient alleging any actions which would be prohibited by the 

regulation implementing Title IX.  It also requires each recipient to notify all of its students and 

employees of the name, office address and telephone number of the employee or employees so 

designated.  

 

The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.9(a), requires each recipient to 

implement specific and continuing steps to notify applicants for admission and employment, 

students and parents of elementary and secondary school students, employees, sources of referral 

of applicants for admission and employment, and all unions or professional organizations 

holding collective bargaining or professional agreements with the recipient, that it does not 

discriminate on the basis of sex in the educational program or activity which it operates, and that 

it is required by Title IX and this part not to discriminate in such a manner.  Such notification 

shall state at least that the requirement not to discriminate in the education program or activity 

extends to employment therein, and to admission thereto, unless Subpart C does not apply to the 

recipient, and that inquiries concerning the application of Title IX and this part to such recipient 

may be referred to the employee designated pursuant to § 106.8, or to OCR’s Assistant 

Secretary.  Section 106.9(b) requires each recipient to include the notice of non-discrimination in 

each announcement, bulletin, catalog, or application form which it makes available to the types 

of persons described in § 106.9(a), or which is otherwise used in connection with the recruitment 

of students or employees. 

 

In its investigation, OCR interviewed the complainant, Student 2 and District staff.  OCR also 

reviewed documentation that the complainant and the District submitted.  OCR made the 

following determinations. 
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Title IX Coordinator: 

 

The District has designated its Human Resources Administrator as its Title IX coordinator.
1
  

Accordingly, OCR determined that the District satisfied the requirement of 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a) 

to designate at least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its 

responsibilities under Title IX and its implementing regulation.    

 

In the District’s “Notice of Non-Discrimination” published on its website (notice 1), the District 

erroneously identified the Title IX Coordinator as the assistant superintendent, who has since 

resigned, and did not identify the Human Resources Administrator as its current Title IX 

coordinator, by either name or correct title.  Notice 1 included the Human Resources 

Administrator’s correct telephone number, but did not include her correct office address or her 

electronic mail (email address).  Accordingly, OCR determined that the District did not satisfy 

the requirement of 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a) to notify all students and employees of the name and 

office address of its designated Title IX coordinator. 

 

Notice of Nondiscrimination: 

 

The District has two different versions of a notice of nondiscrimination:  (i) notice 1, referenced 

above; and (ii) a notice of nondiscrimination published in the District’s 2016-2017 High School 

Course Offering Book (notice 2), which is available on the District’s website.  Notice 1 states 

that “applicants for admission and employment, students, parents, employees, sources of 

referrals of applicants for admission or professional agreements with [the District] are hereby 

notified that this district does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, creed, 

sex, and age or handicap in admission or access to, or treatment or employment in, its program 

and activities.”  Notice 1 states that inquiries concerning the application of Title IX may be 

referred to the Title IX coordinator; but does not state that such inquiries may be referred to 

OCR.  Notice 2 states that the District “does not discriminate on the basis of age, race, color, 

origin, sex or handicap” in its educational programs and activities, as required by Title IX and 

certain other laws, and that this requirement not to discriminate extends to employment.  Notice 

2 states that inquiries concerning the application of Title IX may be referred to the District’s 

Affirmative Action Officer, but does not state that such inquiries may be referred to the District’s 

designated Title IX coordinator or to OCR.  Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the 

District is in violation of regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.9(a), because the 

notice of nondiscrimination does not state that inquiries concerning the application of Title IX 

may be referred to the Title IX Coordinator (notice 2) and/or to OCR (notices 1 and 2). 

 

Grievance Procedures: 

 

In its position statement prepared by counsel, the District stated that it uses either its Sexual 

Harassment Policy (procedure 1), its Student Harassment and Bullying Prevention and 

Intervention policy (procedure 2), or its Dignity for All Students Act (DASA) policy (procedure 

3) to investigate complaints filed by students, employees and third parties regarding alleged 

                                                           
1
 The District’s Assistant Superintendent XXX XXXXX XXXXXXXXX XXX XXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXX 

(assistant superintendent) previously served as the District’s designated Title IX coordinator XXXXX XXX 

XXXXXXXX XX XXXXX XXXX. 
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sexual harassment; and, that procedure 3 is used when a student is the alleged victim.  District 

staff interviewed by OCR, however, stated that procedure 3 is an “umbrella policy“ that 

incorporates procedures 1 and 2; and, that District staff members use procedure 3 to investigate 

complaints of alleged sexual harassment filed by students, employees or third parties.  OCR 

determined that the District used procedure 3 to address reports of alleged harassment filed by 

the complainant.  OCR reviewed all three procedures identified by District counsel. 

 

Procedure 1 can be found on the District’s website.  OCR determined that procedure 1 is not a 

grievance procedure for complaints of sexual harassment; rather, it is a policy statement from the 

Board of Education directing the Superintendent to develop grievance procedures for complaints 

of sexual harassment.   

 

Procedure 2 can also be found on the District’s website.  Procedure 2 applies to complaints filed 

by students and employees alleging harassment and discrimination carried out by students, 

employees and third parties.  Procedure 2 states that complaints should be filed with the 

principal, his/her designee, or the DASA coordinator; and, states that complaints received by all 

other staff members should be reported to the principal, his/her designee, or the DASA 

coordinator immediately.  Procedure 2 explicitly prohibits retaliation, and provides steps for 

ensuring that the District will prevent recurrence of harassment and correct any discriminatory 

effects on the complainant and others.  Procedure 2 includes a building-level and District-level 

procedure for investigation and resolution of complaints.  According to the building-level 

procedure, upon receipt of a complaint, the investigator will initiate an investigation within three 

(3) working days and conclude the investigation within one (1) week.  Procedure 2 does not 

specifically state that that all parties will have an opportunity to present witnesses and evidence; 

however, procedure 2 states that the investigation will include a review of any documentation 

submitted by the “targets”; interviews of the “targets”, alleged perpetrators and witnesses; and, 

an opportunity for the alleged perpetrators to “respond”.  Procedure 2 requires that the 

investigator, in collaboration with the student, parent and administration, determine if any 

interim measures are necessary and provides examples of such interim measures.
2
  Procedure 2 

requires that the investigator notify the parties verbally and in writing of the outcome of the 

investigation and the action taken to resolve the complaint.
3
  Any party who is not satisfied with 

the outcome of the building-level investigation may request a District-level investigation by 

submitting a written request to the Superintendent within 30 days.  An investigation will also be 

initially conducted at the District level if the complaint “contains evidence of or allegations of 

serious or extreme bullying, or a civil rights violation.”  According to the District-level 

                                                           
2
 Procedure 2 lists the following possible interim measures:  a “permanent” hall pass that allows the student to visit a 

designated adult at any time; access to private bathroom facilities; access to private locker room facilities; an escort 

during passing periods; if the student feels unsafe in a specific class, an opportunity for individual tutoring or 

independent study until the case is resolved; an opportunity for independent study at home with District-provided 

tutor until the case is resolved; permission to use personal cell phone in the event that the student feels threatened 

and needs immediate access to parent or guardian; and assignment of a bus monitor. 
3
 Procedure 2 provides examples of the actions that may be taken to resolve the complaint, including: discussion 

with the accused, informing him or her of the District's policies and indicating that the behavior must stop; 

suggesting counseling, skill building activities and/or sensitivity training; conducting training for the department or 

school in which the behavior occurred, calling attention to the consequences of engaging in such behavior; 

requesting a letter of apology to the target; writing letters of caution or reprimand; separating the parties; 

modification of schedules; adjustment in hallway traffic and other student routes of travel; targeted use of monitors; 

parent education seminars/workshops; peer support groups; and/or, appropriate disciplinary action.  
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procedure, upon receipt of a complaint, the Superintendent will initiate an investigation within 

three (3) working days and conclude the investigation within thirty (30) days.  Procedure 2 does 

not delineate the scope of the District-level investigation or indicate that the parties have the 

right to present evidence and witnesses.  Procedure 2 requires that the Superintendent notify the 

parties in writing of the outcome of the investigation.  If either party is not satisfied with the 

outcome of the District-level investigation or appeal response, the party may appeal to the Board 

of Education, by submitting a written request within 30 days.  A Board hearing is to be held 

within 15 school days of receipt of the request; and, the Board must render a decision within 15 

days after the hearing has concluded. 

 

Procedure 3, which is included in the District’s Code of Conduct and can be found on the 

District’s website, became effective July 14, 2016.  Procedure 3 applies to complaints filed by 

students alleging discrimination or harassment carried out by students and employees, but it does 

not specifically indicate that it applies to third parties.  Procedure 3 defines prohibited conduct, 

including harassment, and provides examples of such prohibited conduct. According to 

procedure 3, allegations of harassment of students should be directed to the principal or building 

DASA coordinator.  Procedure 3 expressly states that retaliation is prohibited, and provides steps 

for ensuring that the District will prevent recurrence of harassment and correct any 

discriminatory effects on the complainant and others.  Procedure 3 includes building-level and 

District-level procedures for investigation and resolution of complaints that are virtually identical 

to the procedures under procedure 2.
4
   

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that procedures 2 and 3 do not specifically state that all 

parties will have an opportunity to present witnesses and evidence during the building-level 

investigation.  Further, procedures 2 and 3 do not delineate the scope of the District-level 

investigation or indicate that the parties have the right to present evidence and witnesses during 

the District-level investigation.  Additionally, procedure 3 fails to specifically indicate that it also 

applies to third parties.  Accordingly, OCR determined that the District has failed to adopt and 

publish grievance procedures providing for prompt and equitable resolution of complaints 

alleging discrimination on the basis of sex, including sexual harassment and violence.  The 

District’s failure to adopt and publish such grievance procedures violates 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(b).   

 

The District advised OCR that it provides annual training on sexual harassment and procedure 3 

at the beginning of each academic year.  The District also holds DASA assemblies for all 

students on a quarterly basis.
5
  

                                                           
4
  Procedure 3 also affords parties unsatisfied with the outcome of a building or District-level investigation to appeal 

to the Superintendent or Board of Education, respectively.   
5
  The District informed OCR that such assemblies concern various school-related matters, including DASA and the 

prohibition against harassment, including sexual harassment; however, Student 2 asserted to OCR that sexual 

harassment was not addressed at any assembly she attended during school year XXXX-XXXX.  According to 

documentation provided by the District, the school discussed DASA during school assemblies held on 

XXXXXXXXX X–X, XXXX and XXXXXXX X, XXXX, however, the District did not provide documentation to 

OCR pertaining to the substance of such discussions or assemblies.  During a school assembly held for the entire 

school on XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX, the XXXXXX XXXXXXXX XXXXXXXX’X XXXXXX presented its 

“XXXXX XXXX” campaign, which included discussion about intimidation, bullying and harassment; and during a 

school assembly held for the seventh grade on XXXXX XX and XX, XXXX, the XXXXX XXXXXX XXX 

XXXXXX XXXXXXXX XXXXXX presented its “XXXX-XXXXXXXX XXXXXX XXXXXXXXX 
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Complainant’s Allegation: 

 

The complainant alleged that the District discriminated against Students 1 and 2, on the basis of 

their sex, by failing to respond appropriately to complaints the complainant made to District staff 

in XXXXXXX and XXXXXXXX XXXX, alleging that students at the school subjected Students 

1 and 2 to sexual harassment.   

 

OCR determined that Students 1 and 2 were enrolled in seventh and eighth grade at the school, 

respectively, during school year XXXX-XXXX.  OCR determined that the complainant and/or 

Student 2 made reports to District staff that students harassed Student 1 and/or 2 on the following 

dates during school year XXXX-XXXX:  (i) XXXXXXX X, XXXX (report 1); (ii) XXXXXXX 

XX, XXXX (report 2); (iii) XXXXXXX XX, XXXX (report 3); XXXXXXXX X, XXXX (report 

4); and XXXXXXXX XX and XX, XXXX (report 5). 

 

The school’s DASA coordinator explained that in practice, oral and written reports of sexual 

harassment made to a District staff member are referred to her for processing within one (1) day 

of the report.  Immediately after receiving such report, the DASA coordinator will initiate an 

investigation by interviewing the alleged victim, accused, and witnesses; reviewing evidence 

submitted by the parties and other evidence which may be relevant to the investigation; and 

speaking with the parents of the alleged victim and accused.  The DASA coordinator indicated 

that she will determine appropriate interim measures for the alleged victim, in consultation with 

the alleged victim, parent, principal, social workers and guidance counselors, as appropriate.  

Upon finding that harassment occurred and a hostile environment exists, the DASA coordinator 

will implement remedial measures to eliminate the harassment and remediate its effects, such as 

implementing schedule changes; referring the parties for counseling; imposing or maintaining   

stay away agreements;
 6

 and making disciplinary referrals, if necessary.  The DASA coordinator 

stated that investigations are targeted to be concluded within one (1) school week, with most 

concluding within a few days.  The DASA coordinator stated that she notifies the parties of the 

outcome of any sexual harassment investigation verbally during an in-person meeting.  Records 

of the investigation are maintained by the DASA coordinator.  

 

 Report 1: 

 

By email dated XXXXXXX X, XXXX, the complainant reported to the principal that students 

were harassing Student 1 on XXX XXX by “XXXXXXXX XXXXX XXXXXXX, 

XXXXXXXX XX X XXXX XX XXXXXXXX XXX XXXXX XXXXX” at her.  The principal 

responded by email later that day that the District would request video footage from XXX XXX 

XXXXXXX; talk to Student 1 about the incident; and give a XXX XXXXXX presentation to all 

students to “diminish this issue altogether.”  The complainant did not allege in the email dated 

XXXXXXX X, XXXX, that she believed this incident constituted sexual harassment; nor did she 

provide any information from which the District should have known that the complainant 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
XXXXXXXXXXXXX” program, which included discussion about identifying healthy and unhealthy characteristics 

of relationships and developing effective communication skills.   
6
 The DASA coordinator described “stay away agreements” as being similar to orders of protection, in that such an 

agreement limits only the accused’s contact and communication with the victim, unless both parties are offenders.   
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believed Student 1 had been subjected to sexual harassment.  The District denied that it had any 

information to indicate that students at the school ever subjected Student 1 to sexual harassment. 

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the evidence did not substantiate the 

complainant’s allegation that she reported that students at the school sexually harassed Student 1 

with respect to report 1; and OCR found no evidence to suggest that the District otherwise should 

have known that the complainant believed Student 1 was sexually harassed with respect to report 

1.  Nevertheless, the District investigated the complainant’s concerns by reviewing video footage 

of the incident and discussing it with Student 1; and, took action to address the conduct 

complained of in response to report 1.
7
   

 

 Report 2: 

 

By email dated XXXXXXX XX, XXXX, the complainant reported to the principal, two 

guidance counselors, and the DASA coordinator that students had harassed Student 2 XX XXX 

XXX XXXX on XXXXXXX X, XXXX.  Specifically, the complainant reported that: (i) students 

quoted sexually explicit lyrics from a popular song that referenced X XXXXX XXXX 

XXXXXXX XXX XXXX XXXXXXXXXX XXXX XXX; (ii) an unidentified male student 

(student A) told Student 2 to “suck my dick”; (iii) a female student whom the complainant 

identified (student B) told Student 2 that she was the one who said “suck my dick,” XXXXXXX 

Student 2 XX XXX XXXX XXX XXXXX XXX XXXXXXX; and (iv) two other female 

students whom the complainant identified (students C and D) joined student B in fighting 

Student 2.
8
  In the email, the complainant also reported that Student 2 “has been sexually 

harassed on a daily basis” since the beginning of school year XXX-XXXX,” and that “from [sic] 

some reason the other students care how big her breasts are or her buttocks don’t reach their 

requirements.  Somehow [Student 2’s] body becomes the joke of the day.  [Student 2] constantly 

has to hear boys say suck my dick to her…”   

 

Between XXXXXXX XX and XX, XXXX, the DASA coordinator investigated report 2.  The 

coordinator informed OCR that she did not interpret the complaint to be one of sexual 

harassment, or investigate it as such, because she believed the complaint pertained primarily to a 

physical altercation XX XXX XXX.  During her investigation, the coordinator spoke with 

Student 2 and the complainant; interviewed students B, C and D; and reviewed video footage 

obtained from XXX XXX XXXXXXX.
9
  There was no evidence to indicate that the coordinator 

offered to provide any interim measures to Student 2 to address the effects of the alleged 

                                                           
7
 XXX XXXXXX presentations were delivered to students, including those involved in incident 1, on XXXXXXX 

X and XX, XXXX. 
8
 In the email, the complainant stated that Student 1 was involved in the altercation; however, the complainant did 

not allege that she believed that Student 1 was sexually harassed with respect to this incident; nor did she provide 

any information from which the District should have known that the complainant believed Student 1 was subjected 

to sexual harassment with respect to this incident.  As stated above, the District denied that it had any information to 

indicate that students at the school ever subjected Student 1 to sexual harassment. 
9
  The complainant informed OCR and the District that a student (student E) XXXXXX XXXXX XXXXXXX XX 

the physical altercation on XXXXXXXX.  OCR was unable to XXXXXX XXX XXXX XX the alleged 

XXXXXXX provided by the complainant.  The complainant and the District informed OCR that XXX XXXXXXX 

was removed from XXXXXXXX shortly after the incident.  The District informed OCR that it reviewed XXXX 

XXXXXXX and instructed the student XXX XXXXXX XX XX XXXXXX XX.  
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harassment, such as counseling or changing XXX XXXXXXXX.  The DASA coordinator 

concluded that Student 2 had been subjected to bullying, in violation of DASA.  The District 

verbally reprimanded students B, C and D for their conduct; XXXXXXXXX XXXX XXXX 

XXX XXX for XXXX (X) XXXXX; and XXXXXXXX them to X XXXXXXXXX XXX.
10

 

 

The DASA coordinator met with the complainant, the XXXXXXX XX XXXXXXXXX 

(XXXXXXXX) and the School Resource Officer on XXXXXXX XX, XXXX, to discuss the 

incident.  The coordinator asserted to OCR that she informed the complainant of the outcome of 

her investigation of report 2 during the meeting; however, the complainant denied that she was 

ever informed of the outcome of the investigation.  The meeting ended abruptly after the 

complainant and XXXXXXXX began arguing with each other and XXXXXXXX left.  The 

coordinator again met with the complainant on XXXXXXX XX, XXXX.  During the meeting, 

the complainant expressed dissatisfaction with the meeting on XXXXXXX XX, XXXX, because 

XXXXXXXX refused to replace Student 2’s XXXXXXX.  During the meeting on XXXXXXX 

XX, XXXX, the complainant also reported that several other students were harassing Student 2 

about the physical altercation that occurred; however, the complainant did not identify these 

students, provide any specific details regarding the alleged harassment, or assert or provide 

information indicating that such harassment constituted sexual harassment. The District 

responded by offering Student 2 a safety transfer to another school; the complainant declined the 

offer.   

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the DASA coordinator failed to identify the 

complaint as one of alleged sexual harassment, even though the complainant specifically alleged 

sexual harassment and conduct based on sex.  Further, the DASA coordinator did not attempt to 

ascertain the identity of one of the alleged perpetrators, student A, during the course of the 

investigation.  Additionally, the DASA coordinator did not offer interim measures to Student 2, 

and inappropriately offered remedial measures that put the burden on Student 2 rather than the 

alleged perpetrators; i.e., to transfer Student 2 to another school.  The District’s failure to 

respond appropriately to report 2 violated the regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 

106.8 and 106.31.  OCR found no evidence that the DASA coordinator informed the 

complainant of the outcome of the investigation.  The District’s failure to notify the complainant 

of the outcome of the investigation violated the regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. 

§§ 106.8 and 106.31.   

 

 Report 3: 

 

On or about XXXXXXX XX, XXXX, Student 2 reported to the complainant, in the presence of 

the DASA coordinator, that a male student (student F) threatened to “rape [her] in the butt” 

during XXXXXXX class that day.  The DASA coordinator informed the complainant and 

Student 2 that she would investigate the matter and get back to them.  The DASA coordinator 

investigated the incident from XXXXXXX XX through XX, XXXX, by speaking with Student 

2, student F and the XXXXXXX teacher (the teacher).  The teacher reported that Student 2 and 

student F had a “very nasty exchange,” wherein they hurled insults and profane language at each 

other XXXX XXXXXXX XXX XXXXX XXXXX.  The teacher informed the DASA 

coordinator that she heard the entire exchange and denied that student F made the comment 

                                                           
10

 The School Resource Officer also met with student E to discuss the effects of XXXXXXXXXXXXXX.   
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alleged by Student 2, or otherwise sexually harassed Student 2; rather, the teacher informed the 

DASA coordinator that student F said something about the Student’s XXXXXX.
11

  Student F 

admitted that he engaged in a verbal altercation with Student 2, but “vehemently denied” making 

the comment alleged by Student 2 or otherwise sexually harassing Student 2.    

 

The DASA coordinator informed OCR that based on the information she obtained, she 

determined that there was insufficient evidence to substantiate that student F sexually harassed 

Student 2 by making the alleged comment.  The District nevertheless offered Student 2 the 

opportunity to change her XXXXXXX class, which Student 2 declined, and developed a “plan of 

action” for Student 2 that included counseling and permission to visit the guidance counselor or 

the DASA coordinator when she became frustrated with peers.  No disciplinary action was taken 

against either Student 2 or student F.
12

  The DASA coordinator asserted that she notified the 

complainant of the outcome of her investigation by phone and email; however, the complainant 

denied this.
13

  

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the DASA coordinator promptly and adequately 

investigated the incident by speaking with Student 2, student F and the teacher; however, OCR 

found no evidence that the DASA coordinator informed the complainant of the outcome of the 

investigation.  The District’s failure to notify the complainant of the outcome of the investigation 

violated the regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.8 and 106.31.
14

   

 

 Report 4:   

 

On or about XXXXXXXX X, XXXX, the complainant submitted an HB form to the District.  

On the form, the complainant reported that male students, including student F, had harassed 

Student 2 in XXXXXXX class on XXXXXXXX X, XXXX, by telling her to “suck dick,” calling 

her “pussy,” and saying “I don’t open doors for hoes”.  The complainant also reported that a 

male student instigated a fight between Student 2 and a female student (student G), who 

XXXXXXX Student 2 XX XXX XXXX and XXXXXXX XXX XXXX XX XXX XXXXX.  

The complainant reported that her cousin (student H) told her that a XXXXXXX teacher (teacher 

2) made a comment that Student 2 “deserved to get her ass kicked.” 

 

Between XXXXXXXX X and X, XXXX, the DASA coordinator investigated the incident by 

interviewing Student 2, students G and H, teacher 2, the XXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXX teacher 

                                                           
11

  The teacher informed OCR that she heard student F say “that’s why your XXXXXXXX XX XXXX XXXXXXX 

XXXX XXXXXX.”  The DASA coordinator denied that the teacher informed her that this comment was made, and 

Student 2 denied that this comment was made.   
12

 The complainant asserted that the teacher moved student F’s desk closer to Student 2 following report 3.  The 

teacher and Student 2 denied this.  
13

 The District was unable to provide a copy of the email to OCR.  
14

 On or about XXXXXXXX X, XXXX, the complainant submitted a Harassment and/or Bullying Complaint Form 

(HB form) to the District.  On the form, the complainant again alleged that student F made the comment alleged in 

report 3, but also reported that student F repeatedly told Student 2 to “suck his dick” during the incident.  The DASA 

coordinator informed OCR that because Student 2, the complainant, student F and the teacher never mentioned this 

other comment during her investigation of the incident, she did not investigate the complainant’s allegation 

regarding this comment. 
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who witnessed the incident (teacher 3) and the complainant.
15

  The DASA coordinator stated that 

she did not interpret the report of this incident to be one of sexual harassment, because the focus 

of the complaint was on the fight with student G; neither Student 2 nor the complainant alleged 

that the behavior of the students involved constituted sexual harassment; and, she did not 

interpret the conduct complained of to constitute sexual harassment.
16

  The coordinator therefore 

focused her investigation on the fight between Student 2 and student G, and did not interview 

student F.  Based on her interviews, the coordinator determined that there was no evidence that 

student G harassed Student 2; however, the coordinator determined that student G initiated a 

physical altercation with Student 2, in violation of the Code of Conduct.  The District therefore 

XXXXXXXXX student G XXX XXXXX XXXX and XXXXXXX X XXXX XXXX 

XXXXXXXXX on student G on XXXXXXXX X, XXXX, which XXXXXXXXXX XXX 

XXXX XXXXXXX XXX XXXXXX XXXX Student 2.  The coordinator also determined that 

although teacher 2 admitted saying that Student 2 “runs her mouth” and “had what was coming 

to her,” the statements were not intended to be harassing, as they were not made to Student 2 and 

were unknowingly made within earshot of student H.  The DASA coordinator verbally notified 

the complainant of the outcome of the investigation and of student G’s suspension.  Student 2’s 

plan of action continued to be in effect following this incident.
17

    

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the District did not adequately respond to report 4, 

in which the complainant alleged, among other things, that students harassed Student 2 by telling 

her to “suck dick” and calling her “pussy” and “ho.”  Specifically, OCR determined that the 

DASA coordinator did not interview student F regarding these alleged comments  or regarding 

his involvement in this incident; did not interview any witnesses regarding the alleged comments 

made during the incident; did not attempt to ascertain the identity of any male students who 

allegedly also made the alleged comments during the incident; and, did not make any 

determination regarding whether Student 2 was subjected to sexual harassment during the 

incident.  The District’s failure to respond appropriately to the alleged sexual harassment of 

Student 2 contained in report 4 violated the regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 

106.8 and 106.31.   

 

 Report 5 

 

On or about XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX, Student 2 reported to the DASA coordinator that student 

F pushed students into her during morning arrival; and, when she asked him to stop, he replied 

                                                           
15

 Student 2 and the complainant asserted that in addition to student F, they identified another male student (student 

I) as involved in this incident.  The DASA coordinator denied this, and indicated that she did not interview any male 

student other than student F because the complainant and Student 2 did not identify any other male student by name 

or provide any information from which the coordinator could discern any other male student’s identity.  The 

complainant did not identify any male student, other than student F, on the HB form. 
16

 District staff informed OCR that the comment “suck my dick” is unfortunately part of the school “culture,” and 

such a comment is commonly made by and to both male and female students without regard to the gender.  Staff 

asserted that such comment is not motivated by sex, or intended to sexually harass other students; rather, the 

comment is synonymous with “shut up,” “you’re a jerk” or “get out of my face.” 
17

 In addition, by email dated XXXXXXXX X, XXXX, the principal instructed Student 2’s teachers to be “watchful 

of any issues” in class and immediately report any incidents to him or the DASA coordinator for handling.  The 

principal further informed the teachers that Student 2 had permission to leave class and go to the guidance counselor 

if she felt anxious, and was permitted to leave class three minutes early to avoid hallway disruption as she 

transitioned between classes and eat lunch in the main office or with the guidance counselor.     
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“shut the fuck up” (incident 5).  The following day, the complainant completed an HB Form in 

which she also raised this incident and asserted that an unknown student (student J) and student F 

were harassing Student 2.  The complainant attached text messages that Student 2 sent to the 

complainant, in which Student 2 asserted that student J threatened to “slap the shit” out of her, 

and Student F purposefully pushed other students into her during morning arrival on 

XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX.  While the complainant expressed concern that Student 2 was 

“forced” to be around student F, who allegedly threatened to “rape her up the butt” and has used 

“demeaning sexual [sic] explicit language toward [Student 2]” in the past, the complainant did 

not specifically allege that this incident constituted sexual harassment.  

 

The DASA coordinator investigated the incident on XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX, by interviewing 

Student 2 and student F; she also interviewed student G, who had allegedly witnessed the 

incident.  The coordinator informed OCR that she did not interpret report 5 to be one of sexual 

harassment, because neither Student 2 nor the complainant alleged or provided any information 

to indicate that any sexually harassing conduct occurred regarding report 5.  Additionally, the 

coordinator found no evidence that any sexually harassing conduct occurred in her investigation 

of report 5.  The coordinator determined that student F violated DASA by engaging in bullying 

toward Student 2, and the District therefore XXXXXX XXX X XXX XXX XXXXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXXX and XXXXXXX a XXXX XXXX XXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXXXX XXX 

XXXX XXXXXXX XXX XXXXXXX XXXX Student 2.  Due to the escalating nature of the 

physically harassing conduct XXXXXXXXX XXX XXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXX Student 2 

XXX XXXXX XXXXXXXX,
18

 the District also XXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXX XX 

XXXXXXX XXXXXXX on or about XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX.   

 

On XXXXXXXX XX, XXXX, the school principal and Assistant Superintendent XXX 

XXXXXXXXXXX met with the complainant.  The staff members asserted that during the 

meeting, they notified the complainant of the outcome of the District’s investigation of report 5, 

including the District’s determination that student F violated DASA and of the imposition of the 

XXXX XXXX XXXXXXXXX.  The complainant denied that she was ever provided this 

information or otherwise notified of the outcome of the District’s investigation of report 5.  

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the evidence did not substantiate that the 

complainant reported that students at the school sexually harassed Student 2 with respect to this 

incident; and OCR found no evidence to suggest that the District otherwise should have known 

that the complainant believed Student 2 was sexually harassed with respect to the incident.  

Nevertheless, the District investigated the complainant’s concerns and took action to address the 

conduct complained of in response to report 5.   

 

On June 5, 2017, the District signed the enclosed resolution agreement to resolve the compliance 

issues identified above.  OCR will monitor the implementation of the resolution agreement.   

 

                                                           
18

  The District received reports from other students and staff that XXXXXXXXX had been XXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXX XXXXXX XXX XXX XXXX XXX XXXXX and that such XXXXXX had XXXXXXXXX to the 

point at which XX was XXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXX XXXXXXX XXXXXXXX and XXXXX, including 

XXXXXXX XXXXXX XXXXXXX, in the XXXXXXXXX and XXXXXXXX.     
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This letter should not be interpreted to address the District’s compliance with any other 

regulatory provision or to address any issues other than those addressed in this letter.  This letter 

sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR case.  This letter is not a formal statement 

of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy 

statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR official and made available to the public.  

The complainant may have the right to file a private suit in federal court whether or not OCR 

finds a violation. 

 

Please be advised that the District may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any 

individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, the individual may file another complaint alleging such treatment.   

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, it will 

seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information that, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal 

privacy. 

 

If you have questions regarding OCR’s determinations, please contact Eboné Woods, 

Compliance Team Attorney, at (646) 428-3898 or ebone.woods@ed.gov; or Tiffany Lyttle, 

Compliance Team Attorney, at (646) 428-3754 or tiffany.lyttle@ed.gov. 

 

       Sincerely, 

 

       /s/ 

 

       Timothy C.J. Blanchard 

 

 

cc:  XXXX X. XXXXXX, Esq. 

 

Encl.  

mailto:ebone.woods@ed.gov
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